
Area West Committee

Wednesday 22nd January 2020

6.00 pm (Please note change of start time)

The Guildhall, Fore Street
Chard, TA20 1PP

(disabled access and a hearing loop are available at this meeting venue)  

The following members are requested to attend this meeting:

Jason Baker
Mike Best
Dave Bulmer
Martin Carnell
Brian Hamilton
Ben Hodgson

Val Keitch
Jenny Kenton
Paul Maxwell
Tricia O'Brien
Sue Osborne
Robin Pailthorpe

Garry Shortland
Anthony Vaughan
Linda Vijeh
Martin Wale

Consideration of planning applications will commence no earlier than 7.00pm. 

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact the Case Officer on 
01935 462055 or democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk

This Agenda was issued on Tuesday 14th January 2020.

Alex Parmley, Chief Executive Officer

This information is also available on our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app

Public Document Pack



Information for the Public

The council has a well-established area committee system and through four area committees 
seeks to strengthen links between the Council and its local communities, allowing planning and 
other local issues to be decided at a local level (planning recommendations outside council 
policy are referred to the district wide Regulation Committee).

Decisions made by area committees, which include financial or policy implications are generally 
classed as executive decisions.  Where these financial or policy decisions have a significant 
impact on council budgets or the local community, agendas will record these decisions as “key 
decisions”. The council’s Executive Forward Plan can be viewed online for details of 
executive/key decisions which are scheduled to be taken in the coming months.  Non-executive 
decisions taken by area committees include planning, and other quasi-judicial decisions.

At area committee meetings members of the public are able to:

 attend and make verbal or written representations, except where, for example, personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed;

 at the area committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for 
up to up to three minutes on agenda items; and

 see agenda reports

Meetings of the Area West Committee are held monthly, usually at 5.30pm, on the third 
Wednesday of the month (except December). 

Agendas and minutes of meetings are published on the council’s website 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions

Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device, install, and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers, then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will be 
required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will be 
viewable offline.

Public participation at committees

Public question time
The period allowed for participation in this session shall not exceed 15 minutes except with the 
consent of the Chairman of the Committee. Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total 
of three minutes.

Planning applications
Consideration of planning applications at this meeting will commence no earlier than the time 
stated at the front of the agenda and on the planning applications schedule. The public and 
representatives of parish/town councils will be invited to speak on the individual planning 
applications at the time they are considered. 

Comments should be confined to additional information or issues, which have not been fully 
covered in the officer’s report. Members of the public are asked to submit any additional 
documents to the planning officer at least 72 hours in advance and not to present them to the 
Committee on the day of the meeting. This will give the planning officer the opportunity to 
respond appropriately. Information from the public should not be tabled at the meeting. It should 
also be noted that, in the interests of fairness, the use of presentational aids (e.g. PowerPoint) 

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions


by the applicant/agent or those making representations will not be permitted. However, the 
applicant/agent or those making representations are able to ask the planning officer to include 
photographs/images within the officer’s presentation subject to them being received by the 
officer at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. No more than 5 photographs/images either 
supporting or against the application to be submitted. The planning officer will also need to be 
satisfied that the photographs are appropriate in terms of planning grounds.

At the committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for up to 
three minutes each and where there are a number of persons wishing to speak they should be 
encouraged to choose one spokesperson to speak either for the applicant or on behalf of any 
supporters or objectors to the application. The total period allowed for such participation on each 
application shall not normally exceed 15 minutes.

The order of speaking on planning items will be:
 Town or Parish Council Spokesperson
 Objectors 
 Supporters
 Applicant and/or Agent
 District Council Ward Member

If a member of the public wishes to speak they must inform the committee administrator before 
the meeting begins of their name and whether they have supporting comments or objections and 
who they are representing.  This must be done by completing one of the public participation slips 
available at the meeting.

In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Committee shall have discretion to vary the 
procedure set out to ensure fairness to all sides. 

Recording and photography at council meetings

Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be overt 
and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording the 
meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting. 

Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. If anyone making public 
representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know.

The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be viewed 
online at:
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of
%20council%20meetings.pdf

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council 
under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on 
behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they 
wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset District Council - 
LA100019471 - 2019.

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


Area West Committee
Wednesday 22 January 2020

Agenda
Preliminary Items

1.  To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting held on 20th November 
2019 

2.  Apologies for Absence 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
In accordance with the Council's current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also "prejudicial") in relation to any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

Members are reminded that they need to declare the fact that they are also a member of a 
County, Town or Parish Council as a Personal Interest.  Where you are also a member of 
Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within South Somerset you must 
declare a prejudicial interest in any business on the agenda where there is a financial benefit or 
gain or advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which would be 
at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset District Council.  

Planning Applications Referred to the Regulation Committee 

The following members of this Committee are also members of the Council's Regulation 
Committee:

Councillors Jason Baker, Sue Osborne and Linda Vijeh.

Where planning applications are referred by this Committee to the Regulation Committee for 
determination, Members of the Regulation Committee can participate and vote on these items at 
the Area Committee and at Regulation Committee.  In these cases the Council's decision-
making process is not complete until the application is determined by the Regulation Committee.  
Members of the Regulation Committee retain an open mind and will not finalise their position 
until the Regulation Committee.  They will also consider the matter at Regulation Committee as 
Members of that Committee and not as representatives of the Area Committee.

4.  Date and Venue for Next Meeting 
Councillors are requested to note that the next Area West Committee meeting is scheduled to be 
held on Thursday 20th February 2020 at 5.30pm at The Guildhall, Chard.

5.  Public Question Time 
This is a chance to ask questions, make comments and raise matters of concern.

Parish/Town Councils may also wish to use this opportunity to ask for the District Council’s support on 
any matter of particular concern to their Parish/Town.

Anyone wishing to raise matters in relation to items on the agenda may do so at the time the item is 
considered.



6.  Chairman's Announcements 

Items for Discussion

7.  Promoting Community Safety in Area West - Police Performance and 
Neighbourhood Policing (Page 6)

8.  Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (Executive Decision) 
(Pages 7 - 10)

9.  Request for Area Funding to support the work of Leisure and Recreation 
(Executive Decision) (Pages 11 - 14)

10.  Reports from Members on Outside Organisations (Page 15)

11.  Area West Committee Forward Plan (Pages 16 - 17)

12.  Planning Appeals (Page 18)

13.  Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee (Pages 19 - 20)

14.  Planning Application 19/00273/OUT ** - Bay Tree Farm, Claycastle, Haselbury 
Plucknett (Pages 21 - 43)

Please note that the decisions taken by Area Committees may be called in for 
scrutiny by the Council’s Scrutiny Committee prior to implementation.

This does not apply to decisions taken on planning applications.



Promoting Community Safety in Area West - Police Performance 
and Neighbourhood Policing

This item relates to the active promotion of Community Safety in Area West. 

Sgt. Rob Jameson from the police will attend the meeting and give a short presentation on 
local issues, crime trends and initiatives. 

Background Papers: None

Page 6

Agenda Item 7



Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (Executive 
Decision) 

Manager / Lead Specialist: Tim Cook, Locality Manager
Lead Officer: Adrian Moore, Locality Officer 
Contact Details: adrian.moore@southsomerset.gov.uk  or 01935 462409

Purpose of the Report 

 To update members on the work of the Blackdown Hills AONB Partnership.
 Seek agreement to continue SSDC contribution to the core funding of the AONB Partnership of 

£6,000 in 2020/21.

Public Interest

This report provides an annual update on the activities and projects carried out by the Blackdown Hills 
AONB Partnership

Recommendations

Members are asked to:

1) Comment upon and note the report
2) Agree to continue SSDC contribution to the core funding of the AONB Partnership of £6,000 in 

2020/21 subject to the Council’s budget setting process and available budgets for 2020/21

Background

The Blackdown Hills is an unspoilt landscape on the Somerset and Devon border, rich in wildlife, 
beauty and heritage.  The Blackdown Hills were designated an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in 
1991 after the Countryside Commission’s landscape assessment judged the Blackdown Hills 
landscape ‘to be outstanding due to the subtle combination of four characteristics’:

 An isolated, unspoilt rural area
 Diversity of landscape patterns and pictures 
 A unique geology
 A landscape with architectural appeal

An AONB also encourages the social and economic wellbeing of its local communities; promotes 
sustainable development and has regard to the needs of recreation.  

There are six South Somerset parishes wholly or partly within the AONB.  They are Buckland St Mary, 
Broadway, Combe St Nicholas, Tatworth & Forton, Wambrook and Whitestaunton.  However, as the 
towns of Chard and Ilminster and many other villages are so close to the Blackdown Hills, plenty of 
residents in South Somerset enjoy spending time in the AONB and benefit from the work of the 
partnership.  

AONB Management and Funding 

The AONB is managed by a partnership which is made up of six local authority core funding partners, 
other public bodies, the 41 parish councils within the Blackdown Hills, community organisations and 
voluntary groups.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



South Somerset District Council, along with the five other local authorities that sit within the AONB 
(Devon County Council, East Devon District Council, Mid Devon District Council, Somerset West & 
Taunton Council and Somerset County Council) has statutory duties in relation to the Blackdown Hills.  
This has included recent input and adoption of the five year Management Plan 2019-2024.

In addition, it is a statutory responsibility of the six Local Authority partners to contribute 25% of the 
core funding to cover the running costs of the small staff team, with the other 75% coming from The 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra).  Defra fixes this funding ratio and the 
level of core funding is agreed through a ‘Memorandum of Agreement’.  It should be noted, that if any 
Local Authority partner reduces their funding contribution this will result in a reduction in the amount of 
money from Defra. 

The table below shows what each local authority partner has contributed this financial year:

Funding Partner Amount 
contributed £

Devon County Council 9,274
Somerset County Council 5,122 
East Devon District Council 9,323
Mid Devon District Council 8,500
South Somerset District Council 6,000
Somerset West and Taunton Council 10,000

Total from Local Authorities 48,219
Defra 165,465

Total funding 213,684

Through the Area West budget, SSDC has agreed to contribute £6,000 per annum in the period 
2019/20.  This figure represents good value for money when taking into account the quality of the 
projects and activities delivered through the partnership and the wide range of benefits residents in 
and around the AONB gain from enjoying the Blackdown Hills. 

Councillor Martin Wale represents SSDC on the Partnership Management Group.  Adrian Moore 
represents SSDC at the Officers Support Group.

AONB activities project work and associated programmes

The AONB has a small staff team who carry out a range of work across the area:

Achievements from 
2019/20

 Statutory Blackdown Hills 2019-24 AONB Management Plan produced by the 
AONB staff unit (through the AONB Partnership) – delivery of the 5 year plan

 On-going Nature & Wellbeing work – funded by Public Health Somerset - to bring 
out groups (e.g. WATCH groups) to local farms and work with existing local support 
groups

 Support the Blackdown Hills Farming & Woodland Group Farm Facilitation Funding 
– now with 70 farmer members.  Regular events and demonstrations on topics 
including wood fuel / woodland management, orchards

 Target the Woods for Water project (led by the AONB) at areas of the Axe 
catchment in the SSDC area - to improve water quality & biodiversity

 The AONB Volunteer Co-Ordinator has recruited volunteers from across the area 

Page 8



Achievements from 
2019/20

and engaged them in activities including biological surveying and practical tasks
 Three events Guides per year promoting events organised by the AONB and 

partners
 A Visitor Guide for the AONB will include sites in the SSDC part of the AONB, 

including local walks
 There will be interactive sessions undertaken with all the primary schools in the 

AONB and in parishes that are part of the AONB

Forward Plans for 
2020/21

 Stage 1 approval has been secured from the National Lottery Communities Fund 
for ‘Somerset’s Nature Connections’ nature & wellbeing project, in partnership with 
the other two Somerset AONB’s (Quantock Hills and Mendip Hills) and Somerset 
Wildlife Trust.  The bid is to better connect people in towns (including Chard) to 
green spaces in their local areas and the adjacent AONB

 A new heritage project is being developed to celebrate sense of place and discover 
local areas of historic interest that people can engage with.  Opportunity for local 
archaeological digs and ‘finds’ days

Benefit of continued engagement
 Proven partnership delivering AONB Management Plan and Duty of Regard for SDDC 

under Sec 85 & 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (CRoW Act) 2000 
 Excellent multiplier of SDDC’s £6,000 – approximately 1:34 
 Provides specialist planning advice to SDDC Planning Officers
 Helps deliver SDDC’s Council Plan and Strategies
 Continuation of partnership working with key public and private sector partners
 Ability to access additional funding for local projects
 Strong cross-sector and community engagement and support
 Key partnership targeting rural economy, farming and forestry
 Policy development benefits e.g. Landscape Character Assessment 
 Ambassador for SDDC

Financial Implications

Like the other local authorities that make up the partnership, SSDC continues to contribute an annual 
grant towards the running costs of the AONB and has already agreed to adopt the ANOB five year 
management plan.  The agreed financial contribution of £6,000 per annum has been funded through 
existing budgets in 2019/20.  Approval in principle to continue funding in 2020/21 is recommended but 
this is subject to the Council’s budget setting process and available budgets for 2020/21.

Council Plan Implications 
Working in partnership with the Blackdown Hills AONB contributes to:

Environment
To keep South Somerset clean, green, attractive and sustainable we will:

 Maintain and improve the provision and quality of open spaces and parks
 Be a leading council in developing and adopting a Green Agenda to promote sustainable 

environment, economy and communities
 Support long-term flood resilience

Page 9



 Promote a high-quality built environment

Housing
To enable housing and communities to meet the existing and future needs of residents and 
employers we will work to:

 Enable sufficient housing in appropriate places to meet community needs
 Ensure development which is sustainable, where people want to live and communities can 

thrive 

Healthy, Self-reliant Communities
To enable healthy communities which are cohesive, sustainable and enjoy a high quality of life 
we will:

 Work with partners to reduce the impact of social isolation and create a feeling of community
 Work with partners to support people in improving their own physical and mental health and 

wellbeing
 Enable quality cultural, leisure and sport activities

Area West Chapter Implications
 Continue to support the Blackdown Hills AONB

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 
 The Blackdown Hills AONB website is a useful resource for homeowners seeking information 

on renewable energy and light pollution

SSDC Environment Strategy
 We will work to achieve a significant reduction in emissions and improve carbon-offset rates 

across the geography of South Somerset, through direct action, by supporting the communities 
of South Somerset to meet their ambitions and through the way we do things; ensuring that 
working towards carbon neutrality is a thread which runs through all of our decision-making

Equality and Diversity Implications
 The Blackdown Hills AONB works to ensure that people with limited mobility can enjoy the 

countryside easily by promoting easy access trails

Background Papers
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB April 2019
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB December 2018
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB December 2017
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB December 2016
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB December 2015 
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB December 2014
 Area West Committee – Natural Futures February 2014
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB October 2013 
 Area West Committee – Blackdown Hills AONB October 2012 

Page 10



Request for Area Funding to support the work of Leisure and 
Recreation Service (Executive Decision) 

Director: Clare Pestell, Commercial Services and Income Generation
Manager / Lead Specialist: Katy Menday, Leisure and Recreation Manager
Lead Officer: Rachael.Whaites@southsomerset.gov.uk or 07949 482956
Contact Details: Rachael.Whaites@southsomerset.gov.uk or 07949 482956

Purpose of the Report 

To request funding towards a forest school taster event at Chard Reservoir and to give an overview of 
service delivery by Leisure and Recreation across the past year.

Public Interest

The Leisure and Recreation service manages a range of high quality services and facilities across the 
district, including Country Parks at Ham Hill and in Yeovil, Chard Reservoir Local Nature Reserve, 
Tourist Information Centres at Cartgate and in Petters Way, a small accredited museum in Yeovil and 
a large regional sporting venue; Yeovil Recreation Centre. The service aims to secure grant funding to 
enhance delivery for residents and visitors and where appropriate generate income to ensure that the 
facilities and services are sustainable.

Recommendations

(1) That Members note the report and the work of the Leisure and Recreation Service.
(2) That Members consider the application for funding of £1200 from Area West discretionary budget 

to fund a Forest School taster session at Chard Reservoir during February Half Term. 

Background to Leisure and Recreation

The Leisure and Recreation service pulls together the service areas of Countryside, Heritage, Tourism 
and Yeovil Recreation Centre. The Countryside service manages a number of strategic South 
Somerset sites at Ham Hill Country Park, Yeovil Country Park and Chard Reservoir Local Nature 
Reserve. Yeovil Recreation Centre offers outstanding sports and open space leisure facilities. The 
Tourism service operates the Tourist Information Centre (TIC) at Cartgate on the A303 and a further 
TIC from Petters Way, it also delivers a range of services to support local tourism businesses and 
destination marketing projects. The Community Heritage Access Centre (CHAC) in Yeovil is an 
accredited museum which cares for around 30,000 objects and 6,000 photographs. The Leisure and 
Recreation service has a strong record of working with volunteers, delivering successful events and 
accessing grant funding. 

Overall the Leisure and Recreation Service manages, safeguards and enhances strategic 
recreational, heritage and tourism facilities in South Somerset. Its work enables residents and visitors 
to access, enjoy and learn about South Somerset. Consequently people love where they live and 
South Somerset is a visitor destination of choice. Overall the team’s delivery contributes to a 
financially sustainable future for the service.

The work of the service is in line with a three year business plan (2018 – 2021) which sets out the 
direction and objectives of the Leisure and Recreation Service. The plan measures the success of the 
service annually and aims to reduce the overall cost of running the existing teams as part of the 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



Council’s wider commercial strategy. The plan includes ambitious projects that deliver enhanced 
health and wellbeing outcomes for residents and visitors and also commercial gains to create a 
sustainable future for the service. 

Service Delivery 2019

Heritage Service – Community Heritage Access Centre (CHAC)

CHAC has developed its outreach materials with the help of skilled volunteers including an annual 
calendar, a WWII walking leaflet and leaflets describing the collections. Over the year they have 
welcomed 371 visitors to view the collection and carry out research and through outreach talks and 
events met a further 990 adults and children. Nearly 200 hundred days of volunteering were donated 
and two volunteers celebrated thirty years of volunteering with the Heritage service. A grant enabled 
the purchase of a new museum grade display case for Yeovil library that has a program of exhibitions 
that are both locally relevant and nationally pertinent. With the help of the new Community Heritage 
Officer new projects to work with the NHS and to develop the digital archive for CHAC are 
progressing.

Tourism

By diversifying and increasing the quantity and quality of retail lines stocked we have increased sales 
(against the same period for last year) by 31% at Cartgate Tourist Information Centre. The center still 
delivers it primary function of visitor information but through retail and ticket sales has improved 
income generation. The Centre now stocks products from twenty local suppliers. A project to restore 
the River Parrett Trail was started and is ongoing through this winter, with a planned launch for April 
2020. A new partnership with Visit Somerset was launched to ensure a joined up destination offer for 
South Somerset. The team delivered a leaflet exchange in March to support local tourism businesses.

Yeovil Recreation Centre

The team welcomed Junior Parkrun every Sunday morning and the annual race for life event in June. 
It hosted the school cross country championships and a variety of athletics and hockey development 
courses and sessions in partnership with Clubs. The Activity Officer ensured that there were trail 
activities available at each school holiday and improved engagement across social media. Planning 
permission and Football Foundation approval were granted to make internal changes to the John 
O’Donnell pavilion to reduce the number of changing rooms and create a multipurpose studio and 
community space and a high quality indoor café. Fundraising continues towards a 2020 delivery 
phase. In the current winter season we have welcomed new junior football clubs to the site and our 
superb grounds maintenance team secured the runners up prize in the national industry awards.

Countryside Service

In January 30 acres of land at Ham Hill were purchased with a £233,000 grant from the National 
Heritage Memorial Fund and following on from this the team have recently submitted a 1.6 million 
project proposal to the National Lottery Heritage Fund. The project seeks funding to ensure the future 
protection of the Scheduled Monument, enhance biodiversity and deliver a sustainable countryside 
site. The Ham Hill rangers and volunteers delivered a six week pop up activity centre for the school 

Page 12



summer holidays which welcomed 2622 people across 42 days with 334 visitor feedback surveys 
completed   Further grant funding totaling c.£11K was secured for projects like  a new children’s leaflet 
at Ham Hill and Park Yoga enabled by the sites Friends Groups. The ranger team have delivered a 
successful series of events across the sites totaling 78 events with 3524 participants.   The Chard 
Volunteer Group secured 340 free trees from the Woodland Trust, which were planted to fill gaps in 
the recently laid hedge along the Paintmoor Lane boundary.  The volunteer team at Chard Reservoir 
donated over 700 volunteer days in 2019, which equates to two full time rangers. The ranger teams 
ran two drop in events at Chard Reservoir in 2019, one being themed around ‘bushcraft’ and another 
themed around ‘bugs’. The Community Heritage Officer secured grant funding from Somerset Skills 
and Learning for a third Forest school taster afternoon in late August.  Over 450 children in total 
attended these events over the year.
  
Budget Request

Members are asked to consider granting £1200 from the Area West discretionary budget towards a 
Forest School taster session at Chard Reservoir LNR which will be open for families to attend during 
February half term and will be organised and led by our Community Heritage Officer Becky Russell. 

The Forest school taster session that was held in August this year attracted over 150 participants and 
the feedback received from participants on the day was very positive and many people expressed they 
would like to see more similar sessions run in the future. If funding is secured for another Forest 
School taster day, the session will be themed around birds, with a bird nature trail, bird feeder activity, 
bird crafts and traditional activities such as fire lighting, campfire cooking and den building. The Chard 
Reservoir Volunteer group would support the activities and crafts and promote the reservoir and its 
wildlife. Funding would cover materials and equipment including printing flyers/posters/trail guide, staff 
(including extra ranger cover) and an external provider to deliver an activity, such as bird of prey 
handling. The Forest school taster session will be delivered for 3 hours allowing families to drop in at a 
time convenient to them.

Financial Implications

£1200 funding to be awarded from Area West discretionary revenue budget to enable support to 
projects within Area West. 

Council Plan Implications 

The work of the Leisure and Recreation Service delivers across the Environment and Healthy Self-
reliant Communities themes of the Council Plan. 

Environment – to keep south Somerset clean, green, attractive and sustainable we will:
 Maintain and improve the provision and quality of open spaces and parks.
 Be a leading council in developing and adopting a Green Agenda to promote sustainable 

environment, economy and communities.

Healthy Self-reliant Communities - to enable healthy communities which are cohesive, sustainable and 
enjoy a high quality of life we will:

 Work with partners to reduce the impact of social isolation and create a feeling of community.

Page 13



 Work with partners to support people in improving their own physical and mental health and 
wellbeing.

In the Area West Chapter under Environment – 
 Develop Chard Reservoir as a visitor destination

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

The countryside service manages over 700 acres of land, to five year land management plans, that 
consider the priority habitats and species supported by the unique sites. As far as possible 
conservation work is carried out in a traditional manner reducing the need for use of power tools and 
chemicals. The ranger team are investigating the use of battery powered power tools and will replace 
their fleet once grant funding has been secured to enable this. Annually the service plants on average 
500 trees and plans more for future years. At Yeovil Recreation Centre the floodlights on the AGP and 
Athletics track are the largest user of electricity and both replacement LED bulbs and Solar PV for the 
pavilion roof are currently subject to a business case to replace them. Once the carbon footprint for 
each site or team are available the teams will work to reduce them.

Equality and Diversity Implications

Overall the Service provides a variety of opportunities for people to engage with the work of the teams. 
Where possible a range of activities are offered that enable people with differing physical and mental 
health to engage with the work of the teams e.g. countryside volunteering. The Passport to Leisure 
scheme is valid for all countryside events and bookings at Yeovil Recreation Centre. All front line staff 
have received dementia friends training including those in our café outlets. When events are planned 
access and alternative routes are considered to ensure physical access is available for wheelchairs 
and pushchairs wherever possible. The main countryside sites have easy access trails published on 
the websites and the country parks have audio trails and Yeovil has a tactile map including braille text. 
Additionally Ham Hill has a tramper vehicle for hire at no charge.

Background Papers

None

Page 14



Reports from Members on Outside Organisations

Purpose of the Report

To introduce reports from members appointed to outside organisations in Area West.

Public Interest

Each year Area West Committee appoints local Councillors to serve on outside bodies (local 
organisations) in Area West. During the year Councillors make a report on the achievements of those 
organisations and other relevant issues.

Background

To replace “Reports from members on outside organisations” as a  generic standing agenda item it 
was agreed at the August 2012 meeting to include specific reports about each organisation in the 
Committee‟s forward plan.

Members were appointed to serve on outside bodies at the June 2019 meeting.

Reports

Reports can be verbal or written. There is no standard format, but if possible they include an 
explanation of the organisations aims, their recent activities, achievements and any issues of concern.

This month the member reports are :

Blackdown Hills AONB – Cllr. Martin Wale 
Ile Youth Centre Management Committee – Cllr. Brian Hamilton
Chard and District Museum Society – Cllr. Jenny Kenton

Recommendation

That the reports are noted.

Financial Implications

None.

Background Papers: None

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



Area West Committee Forward Plan

Director: Netta Meadows, Strategy and Support Services
Agenda Co-ordinator: Jo Morris, Case Officer (Strategy and Commissioning)
Contact Details: jo.morris@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462055

Purpose of the Report

This report informs members of the proposed Area West Committee Forward Plan.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:-

(1) comment upon and note the proposed Area West Committee Forward Plan as attached.

(2) identify priorities for further reports to be added to the Area West Committee Forward Plan.

Forward Plan 

The Forward Plan sets out items and issues to be discussed by the Area West Committee over the 
coming few months.

The Forward Plan will be reviewed and updated each month in consultation with the Chairman. It is 
included each month on the Area West Committee agenda and members may endorse or request 
amendments. 

To make the best use of the Area Committee, the focus for topics should be on issues where local 
involvement and influence may be beneficial, and where local priorities and issues raised by the 
community are linked to SSDC corporate aims and objectives.

Councillors, service managers, partners and members of the public may request that an item is placed 
within the forward plan for a future meeting by contacting the agenda co-ordinator.

Background Papers: None.

Page 16

Agenda Item 11



Notes
(1) Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed.
(2) Further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area Committee, please contact the Agenda 

Co-ordinator; Jo Morris, 01935 462055 or e-mail jo.morris@southsomerset.gov.uk

Meeting Date Agenda Item
Lead Officer(s)

SSDC unless stated otherwise

20th February 2020 Area West Community Grant Request – Allowenshay Mains 
Water Project

Tim Cook, Locality Manager

Presentation to raise awareness of affordable housing and the 
work with registered providers to provide affordable housing in 
the district.

Jo Calvert, Specialist - Housing
Leisa Kelly, Case Officer

Ilminster Forum Cllr. Val Keitch

Meeting House Arts Centre, Ilminster Cllr. Val Keitch

18th March 2020 Stop Line Way Update Report Adrian Moore, Locality Officer

Stop Line Way Steering Group Cllr. Sue Osborne

A Better Crewkerne & District (ABCD) Cllr. Mike Best

TBC Highways Authority Update

Quarterly Update 
Reports

Chard Regeneration Scheme Rebecca McElliott, Property and 
Development Project Manager

P
age 17



Planning Appeals

Director: Martin Woods, Service Delivery
Lead Specialist: Simon Fox, Lead Specialist - Planning
Contact Details: simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report

To inform members of the appeals that have been lodged, decided upon or withdrawn.

Recommendation

That the report be noted.

Background

The Area Chairmen have asked that a monthly report relating to the number of appeals received, 
decided upon or withdrawn be submitted to the Committee.

Report Detail

Appeals Received

19/01509/HOU - Erection of trellis panels to an existing boundary fence (Retrospective and revised 
application).
111 High Street, Chard, Somerset, TA20 1QT  
(Officer Delegated Decision)

18/01737/OUT - Outline application for residential development of up to 150 dwellings, public open 
space, landscaping and associated works with access from Lang Road.
Land South Of KitHill, Crewkerne, Somerset  
(Committee Decision)

Background Papers - None 

Page 18

Agenda Item 12



Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee

Director: Martin Woods, Service Delivery
Lead Specialist: Simon Fox, Lead Specialist - Planning
Contact Details: simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report 

The schedule of planning applications sets out the applications to be determined by Area West 
Committee at this meeting.

Recommendation

Members are asked to note the schedule of planning applications.

Please note: Consideration of planning applications will commence no earlier than 7.00 pm.

SCHEDULE

Agenda
Number

WARD Application Brief Summary of 
Proposal

Site Address Applicant

14 PARRETT 19/00273/OUT** Outline application for 
the development of up 
to 35 dwellings with all 

matters reserved 
except access 
including the 

demolition of the 
existing building and 
highways works to 

Claycastle.

Bay Tree Farm 
Claycastle 
Haselbury 
Plucknett

Mr Keating

Further information about planning applications is shown below and at the beginning of the main agenda 
document.

The Committee will consider the applications set out in the schedule.  The Planning Officer will give 
further information at the meeting and, where appropriate, advise members of letters received as a result 
of consultations since the agenda had been prepared.  

Referral to the Regulation Committee

The inclusion of two stars (**) as part of the Development Manager’s recommendation indicates that the 
application will need to be referred to the District Council’s Regulation Committee if the Area Committee 
is unwilling to accept that recommendation.

The Lead Planning Officer, at the Committee, in consultation with the Chairman and Solicitor, will also 
be able to recommend that an application should be referred to District Council’s Regulation Committee 
even if it has not been two starred on the Agenda.

Page 19

Agenda Item 13



Human Rights Act Statement

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful, subject to certain expectations, for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention Right. However when a planning decision is to be 
made there is further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. Existing 
planning law has for many years demanded a balancing exercise between private rights and public 
interest and this authority's decision making takes into account this balance.  If there are exceptional 
circumstances which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues then 
these will be referred to in the relevant report.

Page 20



Officer Report On Planning Application: 19/00273/OUT

Proposal :  Outline application for the development of up to 35 dwellings 
with all matters reserved except access including the demolition 
of the existing building and highways works to Claycastle.

Site Address: Bay Tree Farm  Claycastle Haselbury Plucknett
Parish: Haselbury Plucknett  
PARRETT Ward (SSDC 
Member)

 Cllr Anthony Vaughan

Recommending Case 
Officer:

 Colin Begeman

Target date : 30th April 2019  
Applicant : Mr Keating
Agent:
(no agent if blank)

Boon Brown Architects Motivo
Alvington
Yeovil
BA20 2FG

Application Type : Major Dwlgs 10 or more or site 0.5ha+

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

The application has been referred to committee by the Director (Service Delivery) in consultation with 
the relevant Area Chairman taking into consideration that due to the nature of the application and the 
evident public interest that the Committee should consider it.

This application has also been 2-starred under the Scheme of Delegation - referral of applications to the 
Regulation Committee for determination. In collective agreement with the Leader, Portfolio Holder, Area 
Chairs, Director (Service Delivery), Monitoring Officer, and Lead Specialist (Planning) all major 
applications will be 2-starred for the immediate future to safeguard the Council's performance, pending 
a more substantive review.

The Area Committees will still be able to approve and condition major applications. However, if a 
committee is minded to refuse a major application, whilst it will be able to debate the issues and indicate 
grounds for refusal, the final determination will be made by the Regulation Committee.

Page 21

Agenda Item 14



SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

 

Page 22



This application seeks outline permission for up to 35 dwellings with all matters reserved except for 
access including demolition of existing buildings. The application seeks to agree on the detailed matter 
of access with all other matters, including layout, scale, appearance and landscaping, reserved for later 
consideration. 

The site consists of agricultural fields totalling approximately 1.9 hectares in size and is located on the 
eastern side of Haselbury Plucknett. The site is bounded mostly by open fields except to the north-west 
by existing residential development. The site accesses on to Clay Castle to the north with the vehicular 
access for the development proposed via this road. On the opposite side of this road is further open 
fields. Running along the south side of the site is an unclassified road known as Bradley Hill Lane beyond 
which is undeveloped agricultural land although planning permission has recently been granted 
(planning ref. 19/00721/CPO) for a new primary school to occupy the land immediately to the northeast. 
A pedestrian link on to Bradley Hill Lane is proposed as part of this proposal. 

The application site is a relatively level site and the fields are contained by hedgerows on the western 
boundary. The site is not located within any areas of special designation, conservation areas or 
wildlife/habitat designations. There are no heritage assets in the immediate locality and the site is 
located within flood zone 1.

This application is supported by:

 Design and Access Statement
 Planning Statement
 Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)
 Infiltration SuDS GeoReport
 Geophysics Report
 Transport Statement
 Travel Plan
 Ecology report

HISTORY

90/01123/OUT Erection of Bungalow (outline)
Refused 24th October 1990

03/01862/COU Description Change of use of wooden barn for use as packing/dispatching of flowers for 
web based business (GR 347691/110604)
Permitted with conditions

04/01864/FUL Variation to Conditions 3,4,5 and 11 of application03/01862/COU
Refused 16th September 2004
Appeal allowed 12th May 2005

07/02210/COU Change of use of wooden barn for use as packing/dispatching of flowers for web based 
business (renewal of 03/01862/COU)
Permitted with Conditions 18th March 2008

08/03912/S73 Description Application to vary condition 05. of decision notice 07/02210/COU dated 
18.03.08 to permit more than one collection of goods per day on 3 occasions per year, Valentine's Day, 
Mother's Day and Christmas.
Approved with Conditions 04th December 2008

10/00203/S73 Application to vary condition 07 and 08 of planning permission 08/03912/S73 dated 

Page 23



04.12.08 to allow flower delivery on Sundays between 5pm and 10.30pm
Refused 11th March 2010

10/03089/S73 Application to vary conditions No. 02 of planning approval 08/03912/S73 dated 4/12/2008 
to include alcoholic drinks to be sold
Refused 22nd September 2010
Appeal Dismissed 20th January 2011

12/01323/S73 Application to vary conditions No. 02 of planning approval 08/03912/S73 dated 4/12/2008 
to include alcoholic drinks to be sold
Permitted with Conditions 19th June 2012

POLICY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), and Paragraphs 2, 11, and 12 of 
the NPPF indicate it is a matter of law that applications are determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

For the purposes of determining current applications, the local planning authority considers that the 
adopted development plan comprises the policies of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 2028 (adopted 
March 2015).

Policies of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028)
SD1 - Sustainable Development
SS1 - Settlement Strategy
SS4 - District Wide Housing Provision
SS5 - Delivering New Housing Growth
SS6 - Infrastructure Delivery
LMT3 - Somerton Direction of Growth
EP3 - Safeguarding Employment Land
HG3 - Provision of Affordable Housing
HG5 - Achieving a Mix of Market Housing
TA1 - Low Carbon Travel
TA4 - Travel Plans
TA5 - Transport Impact of New Development
TA6 - Parking Standards
HW1 - Provision of open space, outdoor playing space, sports, cultural and community facilities in new 
development
EQ1 - Addressing Climate Change in South Somerset
EQ2 - General Development
EQ3 - Historic Environment
EQ4 - Biodiversity
EQ5 - Green Infrastructure
EQ7 - Pollution Control

National Planning Policy Framework - March 2019
Part 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Part 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Part 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities
Part 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Part 11 - Making effective use of land
Part 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Part 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Part 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Page 24



Part 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Part 17 - Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

Other
Somerset County Council Parking Strategy (September 2013)
Somerset County Council Highways Development Control - Standing Advice (June 2017)

CONSULTATIONS

The responses from the following consultees are provided below in summary form only, for the most 
part. Where not included below, the full responses are available on the public planning file.

Haselbury Plucknett Parish Council: 

Objects to the application for the following reasons:

 The site of the proposed development is prone to flooding and there are no practicable means 
to prevent it. In fact the development would increase the risk. As a consequence it would not be 
possible to insure properties built on the site, nor would mortgages be forthcoming. The 
properties of the Applicant and his neighbours to the west would also be made unsaleable. 
Finance to develop the site would not be available and no developer would contemplate its 
purchase. Householders would be left facing the distressing possibility of their homes being 
flooded.

 No marketing statement showing active marketing.
 Loss of employment use.
 Adverse impact on Listed Buildings setting
 Disregard to LP policy preventing new development outside development boundaries
 Contrary to the Village Design Statement regarding ribbon development
 Increase in volume of traffic will result in material harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties
 Existing dangerous highway conditions would be made worse
 Loss of ecology habitat and pollution to the Small Brook
 If after 18months of marketing there are no suitable tenant the Parish may be willing to consider 

housing on the Brownfield part of the site.

24th May 2019
Parish confirms the instruction of a topo survey to verify the information submitted by the applicant in 
relation to highways.

27th May 2019
Parish submits a further substantial objection document concluding that:

The highways/transport part of the Application and Supporting Documents is based on distorted 
readings of policy, false and misleading data, illogical conclusions and absurd arguments. The traffic 
generated by the proposed development represents a danger to the safety of residents and highway 
users and would cause a profound loss of amenity. The proposed mitigation measures are unworkable 
and would create new hazards. Its defects cannot be remedied by the imposition of conditions.

Taking all the relevant facts into account and discarding those arguments put forward which are not 
relevant or are ill-founded the only logical conclusion is that this ill-advised Application must be refused 
on highways grounds alone.

Page 25



7 June 2019
Parish responds to the updated information regarding highways:

The Parish commissioned a topo survey of the road which shows that the road is narrower than implied 
by the applicant and have suggested changes to the conditions proposed by the Highway Authority.

1 July 2019
The Parish submit a further document concluding that:
The Flood Risk Assessment is inadequate and fails to address the issues
The Surface Water Drainage Strategy will not work.
The development fails to comply with adopted policy

19 September 2019
The Parish submit a further document that questions the validity of the Highway Authorities consultation 
response.

25 October 2019
The Parish submit a further document questioning the validity of the applicant's and the Council's 
Ecologist views concluding that:

It remains the case that this development would destroy a pleasant meadow in the countryside and 
replace it with a speculatively built housing estate, along with the destruction of wildlife habitat, 
biodiversity, visual and recreational amenity, noise, air and water pollution, and increased traffic, flood 
risk and carbon emissions. No conditions, no LEMP and no amount of bird and bat boxes, bee bricks 
etc., etc., can fix this. I continue to object to this application.

12 November 2019

The Parish Council has become aware of reports that have only just been published from the LFA and 
the Flood Authority.

Given the length of time, it has taken for SSDC to publish this information, we would request that no 
further action is taken until we have had time to consider and respond to this new information.

We anticipate that this will take no longer than two weeks.

25 November 2019

The Parish Council submitted a further document objecting to the application.

The Parish is concerned that the publication of documents relating to flooding issues were not made 
available sooner and could prejudice the decision making on the application.

The document concludes that:

The site of the proposed development is prone to flooding and there are no practicable means to prevent 
it. In fact the development would increase the risk. As a consequence it would not be possible to insure 
properties built on the site, nor would mortgages be forthcoming. The properties of the Applicant and 
his neighbours to the west would also be made unsaleable. Finance to develop the site would not be 
available and no developer would contemplate its purchase. Householders would be left facing the 
distressing possibility of their homes being flooded.

Page 26



North Perrott Parish Council:

It has been the policy of NPPC since the adoption of the VDS to strive to keep the area between the 
villages of North Perrott and Haselbury free from ribbon development that might lead to the eventual 
merging of our two communities and not to increase traffic using Stonage Lane, which is both very 
narrow and has a dangerous junction with the A3066

County Highway Authority:  

No objection subject to conditions

8 April 2019
The Highway Authority is not against the principle of the development, however, the applicant should 
look to address the Highways concerns.

29 May 2019
Having regard to the clarifications provided in the additional information, this Authority is content that as 
submitted the proposal will not lead to a severe impact on the highway infrastructure as detailed in 
Manual for Streets and therefore have no grounds for objection.

However, because a certain level of intensification will be realised in the event of planning permission 
being granted, the conditions should be imposed.

2 September 2019

Further to recent correspondence on this matter, I have received the email below and in order to confirm 
the Highway Authority position would offer the following comments.

This application is for up to 35 residential units. The national database (TRICS) contains trip levels 
associated with different development types and these figures are accepted by the Highway Authority. 
This development proposal is likely to generate in the region of 20 vehicles in the peak hour which 
equates to 1 every 3 minutes.

It is recognised that the Parish Council have undertaken a survey of the lane which shows there are 
contradictions between the different information provided. Manual for Streets states that a distance of 
4.1m is adequate for two vehicles to pass. It is stated that there are only 2 section where this distance 
is available. However, the table provided on the survey drawing shows a number of different locations 
where 4.1m is available especially between W160 and W200,

This Authority has to take account of all mitigation factors including;

 The proposed mitigation measures to provide widened carriageway and provide visibility splays,

 The existing vehicle access points which are covered by highway rights and add to the passing 
places along the road,

 The fact that the site was used for a number of years as a flower business and the applicant 
confirmed the business generated the following vehicle movements:

 15 - 20 staff-related movements per day
 An average of 15 ford transit type courier drops per week
 One daily flower delivery lorry
 One 7T Royal Mail lorry collection vehicle
 10 miscellaneous visits (professional people, etc.)

Page 27



In this regard, when assessed against local and national policies this Authority is content that the 
mitigation measures suggested which can be secured via planning condition means the impact of this 
development proposal will not be severe.

SSDC Highway Consultant:

Refer to SCC advice.

SCC Rights of Way:

No objections subject to conditions

SCC Education (EdA):

No objection and no contributions required.
We currently have capacity in the schools in this area so will not require contributions.

CPRE Somerset: 

Objects on the grounds that:

 Harmful to the character of the area and the separation of North Perrott and Haselbury
 Limited information regarding assets of heritage value
 Limited account has been taken of the Haselbury Plucknett Village Plan or the North Perrott 

Village Plan.
 Represents a 64% increase in housing stock
 No robust engagement by the applicant with community
 Site is prone to flooding and will lead to more flooding and inadequate capacity for sewage
 Inadequate access 
 Ecology issues

SSDC Housing:
Adopted affordable housing policy to be applied

SSDC Open Spaces Officer: 
No requirement as less than 50 dwellings.

SSDC Community, Health and Leisure:
Requires a contribution of £55,406 or £1,583 per dwelling

NHS England: 

No comments received.

Police Designing Out Crime Officer: 

No objection subject to comments:

 Please consider repositioning the PROW to go in front of units 33, 34, and 35 to remove the 
alleyway to the rear of the properties. Rear alleyways can be considered crime generators as 
they allow anonymity to the criminal

 Maintenance Path - Please reconsider providing this access to the rear of properties. It is unlikely 
to be managed efficiently thus allowing access to a number of units. They can often be used as 

Page 28



dumping grounds for household and garden rubbish.

Officer Comment: - this is an outline application and these matters can be dealt with at the Reserved 
Matters stage.

Somerset Waste Partnership: No comments. 

Historic England: Do not wish to comment

Natural England: Do not wish to comment. 

SSDC Ecologist: No objection subject to conditions

18 September 2019
The Ecologist requires further information before suggesting conditions

1 October 2019
The Ecologist comments on the updated ecology information:

I have now reviewed the latest ecological response from encompass, and following a meeting with 
encompass, boonbrown and the applicant, can confirm that I am satisfied with the avoidance, mitigation 
and compensation proposals subject to conditions:

Somerset Wildlife Trust: Fully support the proposals for Mitigation and Enhancement in the survey, and 
in particular the recommendations in respect of bat and bird boxes and external lighting which should 
be included in the Planning Permission if it is decided to grant Planning Permission.

SSDC Tree Officer: No comments received.

SSDC Environmental Protection Officer:  No observations.

SW Heritage Trust Archaeologist:  No objection

25 February 2019
Require further information regarding archaeology comprising geophysical survey and where 
appropriate a trial trench evaluation prior to determination.

24 April 2019
The geophysical survey has identified features that require further investigation which can be controlled 
by conditions attached to any permission granted.

Environment Agency: No comment received.

Lead Local Flood Authority (County Drainage): No objections subject to a condition to secure the 
detailed design at reserved matters stage.

11 March 19

Thank you for consulting with the LLFA on this application. We have objected to the proposed 
development due to the following reasons: 

1. We require information regarding existing rates of runoff and a commitment to a minimum 30% 
betterment on those rates. 

Page 29



2. We note surface water is to be discharged to a soakaway. These should be designed and 
constructed in accordance with Building Research Digest 365. We would expect to see a fully 
implementable alternative drainage strategy before any permission is granted, should 
soakaways subsequently prove unviable. In the absence of infiltration measures, we will always 
prefer surface drainage features (ponds, swales etc), as these are more likely to offer multiple 
benefits such as improved water quality, biodiversity and amenity and are generally easier to 
maintain. Opportunities to manage water throughout the development site are welcomed, using 
a SUDS management train approach. 

3. The FRA acknowledges that there is a surface water flow path through the site, which is shown 
on the long-term flood risk maps, but argues that the topography of the site and the existence of 
a ditch in the south eastern corner mean that flow would instead head east and would not impact 
the site unless those systems were overwhelmed. Further detail is needed to confirm the 
mechanism of surface water flooding here, and how this will subsequently inform the design and 
layout of the development. 

4. We note that the exceedance routes predict that the surface water will drain onto Clay Castle 
road, the EA flood risk map appears to show a high risk of surface water flooding along this road 
already. We are aware of surface water flooding incidents that have occurred on the highway 
near the site. Therefore, exceedance routes must be adequately controlled onsite for all events 
up to and including the 1 in 100 years (+40% climate change) event. Opportunities to slow flow 
through the development should be explored. 

5. We also note the quote: "All surface water drainage components within the site will be designed 
to a 1 in 30-year standard, plus a 10% additional allowance for climate change, and be tested 
for the 1 in 100-year (plus 40% climate change) rainfall event to ensure that exceedance flows 
do not impact on property". The drainage system should be designed so that no part of the site 
must be allowed to flood during any storm up to and including the 1 in 30 event and flooding 
during storm events exceeding the 1 in 100yr (plus 40% allowance for climate change) must be 
controlled within the designed exceedance routes demonstrated to prevent flooding or damage 
to properties.

10 June 2019

Thank you for consulting the LLFA on this application. There is clearly understandable local concern 
about the impact that the development will have on the existing flooding problem on Claycastle. 
However, as outlined in our previous response we've asked for a betterment on the existing greenfield 
runoff rates for the development. This is not something we generally request on greenfield sites, and 
whilst it may not fully resolve the current flooding situation, it could allow the development to offer some 
improvement over it. The developer has not to date really discussed the existing problems locally on 
Claycastle, or what is causing them (i.e. blockages, maintenance etc), and how the development may 
impact if adequate measures are not put in place. An assessment of existing flow patterns through the 
site should be undertaken, understanding how the site naturally drains - some flow would appear to go 
into the watercourse near Stonage Lane, but the majority flows to Claycastle. Any flows originating 
outside of the site, but which utilises the site as a flow route should also be taken into account within 
any calculations. 

There is an underplay of the hydrology here. The FRA refers to 'ditches', but these are functioning 
watercourses. Following site visits undertaken by colleagues suggest these may have a high value in 
terms of ecology and water quality. The developer must take account of this in any design proposals. 
The developer seeks to connect any flow not infiltrating to ground to the watercourse along Claycastle, 
and it is not clear if there is an existing connection here or whether a new connection will be sought. The 
latter would require Land Drainage Consent from the LLFA. 

Page 30



We note the use of soakaways on part of the development and suggest that if the scheme is going to 
be based around this that further work is undertaken to understand implications of groundwater levels 
and local hydrology/geology - or alternative strategy sought, that seeks to slow flow through the site 
towards the outfall. We refer to Highways comments with regards to there being potentially insufficient 
space for soakaways given the easement requirements around buildings and roads and support this. 
The drainage design suggests the use of a swale, but this does not accord with the architect's outline 
layout plan which shows dwellings where the swale would need to be. Therefore, the design and density 
of the development may need to be amended to ensure an appropriate, sustainable and implementable 
scheme can be provided. The swale would need careful design to ensure there is no risk to existing 
properties in the vicinity. The drainage design is not clear how runoff on the access road into the site 
will be managed. 

It is important to stress that flooding resulting from the 1 in 100 years (+40% climate change) event must 
be managed within the site boundary. The FRA is not clear in this respect.

27 June 2019

Thank you for email your comments are noted. Where there are particular flood or drainage concerns 
we try to agree as much detail upfront as possible and minimise the use of conditions. This is to avoid 
the risk of a site receiving outline approval that can then not be satisfactorily drained. Given the work 
you have undertaken, I agree we have taken these discussions as far as we can at this stage.

We will be suggesting a suitable condition for the LPA.

11 July 2019

LLFA provides a condition to be part of the planning permission

Somerset Drainage Board Engineer: No comments received. 

REPRESENTATIONS

132 written representations have been received raising the following concerns and observations: 

 Flooding is a major concern and the proposed use of a condition to secure mitigation measures 
will not work.

 The applicant has failed to demonstrate that there is a viable, safe and inclusive pedestrian 
access to the proposed development site.

 Roads unable to cope with the additional traffic
 No low-cost homes
 The land owned for the proposed passing places are under private ownership
 No policy support
 Change the character of the area

Applicant's Case

CONSIDERATIONS

Principle of Development

Haselbury Plucknett is identified as a Rural Settlement in the local plan, which will be considered as part 
of the countryside to which national countryside protection policies apply, subject to the exceptions 
identified in Policy SS2.

Page 31



This approach does not preclude development. The NPPF promotes sustainable development in rural 
areas, with housing and employment to be located where it enhances or maintains the vitality of rural 
communities.

The adopted Local Plan states that the future delivery of housing and economic activity in rural locations 
needs to carefully balance the sustaining of communities against protecting and enhancing the rural 
environment. The rural lifestyle provided by the many small villages and hamlets in South Somerset is 
one of the unique qualities of the district, and in turn, creates a range of challenges and opportunities 
that require delicate management.

Evidence indicates that rural areas experience higher property prices and corresponding issues 
associated with housing affordability. These areas are usually populated by an increasingly aged 
population and can suffer from socio-economic effects stemming from rural isolation, a low-wage 
economy, and poor transport (especially public transport) links. At the same time, these areas provide 
attractive, tranquil environments promoting a higher quality of life, support diverse and innovative 
economic activity and foster a strong sense of community.

Reflecting on the Taylor Review (2008) and the NPPF, it is clear that a thriving rural community in a 
living, working countryside depends, in part, on retaining local services and community facilities such as 
schools, local shops, cultural venues, public houses and places of worship. Rural housing plays a crucial 
role in maintaining the viability of these local facilities.

Furthermore, it is important that planning does not pre-determine the future of rural communities by only 
assessing communities as they are now and not what they could be. In too many places this approach 
writes off rural communities in a 'sustainability trap' where development can only occur in places already 
considered to be in narrow terms 'sustainable'. The question that should be asked is: "how will 
development add to or diminish the sustainability of this community?" This requires a better balance of 
social, economic, and environmental factors together to form a long term vision for all scales of 
communities.

Policy SS2 seeks to ensure the development needs of Rural Settlements can be met, whilst restricting 
the scale of such growth to be consistent with the spatial strategy of focusing development at Yeovil, 
the Market Towns, and the Rural Centres.

The Rural Settlements tier of the settlement hierarchy covers a range of settlements that vary widely in 
size, role, function, local priorities, and constraints. Therefore, the interpretation of Policy SS2 will 
depend on applying these factors in considering proposals at each individual settlement; for example, a 
proposal that is acceptable in one of the larger Rural Settlements such as Templecombe, which has a 
relatively strong employment function and good sustainable transport links with the presence of a railway 
station, will be different to a smaller Rural Settlement such as Compton Dundon which does not have 
these features.

The criteria for residential development within in Rural Settlements set out in the Local Plan states:

The NPPF states that policies should take into account the need to provide housing in rural areas, in 
order to enhance or maintain their sustainability; and although the focus should be on existing towns 
and identified service centres, some new housing should be provided to meet identified local need in 
other villages.

It is important to ensure that the occupiers of new homes in Rural Settlements are able to live as 
sustainably as possible by having easy access to basic facilities that provide for their day to day needs. 
Therefore, new housing development should only be located in those Rural Settlements that offer a 
range (i.e. two or more) of the following services, or that provide these within a cluster of settlements:-

 local convenience shop;

Page 32



 post office;
 pub;
 children's play area/sports pitch;
 village hall/community centre;
 health centre;
 faith facility; and
 primary school.

Housing proposals should also, where possible, demonstrate how they would support existing facilities. 
The NPPF states that to promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.

Housing proposals will need to fully explain how they contribute to meeting local need. This could be via 
delivering affordable housing, low-cost market housing, or a different form or type of housing which is in 
limited supply for locals (e.g. small bungalows for elderly local households to move to and remain in the 
village, or two-bedroom accommodation for young households). It will generally be expected that 
affordable housing is included as part of housing schemes proposed at Rural Settlements. The NPPF 
gives greater flexibility for local councils to set their own approach to delivering housing in rural areas. 
This includes considering whether allowing some market housing would enable the provision of 
significant additional affordable housing to meet local needs.

Residential proposals in Rural Settlements will be expected to achieve a better overall variety of housing 
in the settlement and result in a more balanced community with better prospects for local people to 
obtain affordable housing and/or access a wider range of market housing and have regard to Policy 
HG5, Policy HG3 and Policy HG4.

Policy SS5 sets out the scale of housing development that should be delivered in the Rural Settlements 
tier of the settlement hierarchy.

At the present time, SSDC cannot demonstrate a five-year housing supply. In these circumstances, 
paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that policies that are relevant to the 
supply of housing, i.e. Local Plan Policies SS1, SS2, SS4 and SS5, are to be considered to be out of 
date. It further advises that under these circumstances planning permission should be granted unless:

1) the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed or 

2) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The 35 dwellings proposed are significant in relation to the size of Haselbury Plucknett and do lead to a 
substantial increase in the number of dwellings within the village. The ongoing inability of South 
Somerset District Council to demonstrate adequate provision of housing land does need to be given 
appropriate weight. It is not considered that the resulting housing numbers would conflict with the overall 
housing distribution strategy set out within the Local Plan. 

When considering the planning balance of this proposal it should be recognised that the additional 
market (up to 23) and affordable housing (up to 12) that will be provided will make a positive contribution 
towards meeting SSDC's five-year housing supply and should be accorded considerable weight in 
favour of the scheme. It represents an extension of the village in landscape perspective terms, given its 
location on the edge of the existing built development, and its close proximity to the settlement's centre 
and local facilities. 

Page 33



On the basis of the above, it is not considered that the scale of growth would undermine the settlement 
strategy set out within the Local Plan, or that in this instance create such a significant character concern 
as to outweigh the proposal's benefits. The site relates to surrounding built development and is within 
walking distance to the village centre and facilities. The benefits that would arise from the scheme in 
terms of its positive contribution towards meeting the district's 5 year housing supply requirements as 
well as providing a good mix of market and affordable dwellings are significant. For these reasons, the 
proposal is considered to represent a sustainable form of development that is acceptable in principle.

Haselbury Plucknett Village Plan May 2014

While the Village Plan has no status as a statutory document it can be considered as a material 
consideration of limited weight in determining applications.

The village plan found that there are concerns regarding transport and new development.

It identifies that traffic and road safety was a key issue in all village plan meetings and that the top three 
problems are lack of pavements, speed of traffic and speed/volume of tractors.

In terms of residential development the plan finds that small scale developments of less than ten 
dwellings and conversion of barns and single dwellings to be the most favoured approach. The preferred 
location of development was primarily infill with the next favoured location for edge of village followed 
by no development.

There was a strong desire for affordable housing and starter homes followed by elderly accommodation. 
The next favoured approach was no further homes needed.

In terms of new commercial development the plan states that small offices/industrial units are not 
welcomed by the majority who responded.

The application in part complies with Plan in that it provides much needed affordable homes and 
removes an existing business. The proposal will provide for policy compliant parking within the site.

The proposal does not comply with the view of the plan that; residential developments of more than 10 
dwellings should not be allowed.

Impact on the local landscape, visual amenity and density

The site comprises an edge of settlement agricultural fields which is bounded by the existing built 
environment of Clay Castle to the north and open field to the east and west with Stonage Lane to the 
south. Further to the east are a small group of houses fronting Clay Castle. The proposal would clearly 
and awkwardly project into the landscape from a village form that is predominately linear along historic 
roads and lanes, creating what could be described as a back-land form of development without any 
meaningful road frontage, permeability or legibility. However, from a visual character perspective the 
site is reasonably flat and in terms of long-distance views are limited due to the topography of the 
surrounding landscape character.

This assessment shows that the proposal represents a very delicate balance between acceptability and 
refusal on visual character grounds.

The scheme proposes a density of approximately 23 dwellings per hectare (worked out based on the 
net developable area of 1.5 ha) while representing a low density scheme it is comparable with 
surrounding development. The application is in outline at this stage and as such, the layout plan provided 
is indicative only, however, it sets out how a scheme of this density/scale might be achievable on the 
site and how it would relate to surrounding development. 

Page 34



The scheme indicates the retention of the existing field hedgerows with increased tree planting providing 
a buffer between the new housing the existing housing to the north. The indicative layout plans indicate 
a mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced houses which would reflect the general makeup of 
housing types with the village. 

It is not considered that development of this type and at this density is inappropriate in principle in this 
location. The layout, house types, density and landscaping proposals would be fully considered at the 
reserved matters stage. 

Residential Amenity

The indicative layout offers an arrangement that allows future residents and existing neighbouring 
residents to enjoy a good level of residential amenity and there is no apparent reason why an acceptable 
scheme could not be achieved that would avoid causing any demonstrable harm to existing local 
residents in this regard. It is acknowledged that the outlook of adjacent neighbouring residents will be 
altered to a degree by the development, however, the loss of view cannot justify withholding planning 
permission. Overall this outline scheme raises no substantive residential amenity concerns. 

Access and Highway Safety

The key concerns raised locally in respect of this proposal relate to existing reservations they have in 
relation to highway safety from an increase in traffic along Clay Castle and into the village. Concerns 
have been raised at a local level to the highway authority about the width and arrangement of this road 
which they state is too narrow and poorly aligned to be able to accommodate existing traffic levels 
through the village. Their concerns are that the current proposal, which will obviously generate additional 
traffic on the local highway network, will exacerbate this problem which they feel is already unacceptable 
for safety reasons for both vehicles and pedestrians.
Whilst these local concerns are acknowledged the Highway Authority has not raised any objection to 
this scheme based on traffic generation and compatibility issues with the local highway network.

The application is supported by a Traffic Statement which when scrutinised by the Highway Authority 
concluded that this proposal would not give rise to any capacity issues in regard to the local highway 
network. 

The development is to be served by a single new vehicular access leading on to Clay Castle. The 
proposal includes a 5m wide access and the provision of a 2m wide pavement into the site. 

There is a Public Right of Way that runs through the site and links into the village. The surface of the 
right of way within the applicant's control will be improved and a financial contribution towards the 
improvement of the right of way into the village has been offered. This would be secured through a 
Section 106 Agreement.  

The Highway Authority has agreed that the visibility splays in either direction for the new estate access 
is acceptable and this matter will be secured by condition. 

The Travel Plan is a matter that the Highway Authority has requested be secured through a condition. 

In all other respects and as a matter of principle the Highway Authority has no objections to this proposal 
subject to a number of conditions being imposed to secure certain detailed matters, all of which form 
part of the officer's recommendation. On this basis, the proposal is considered to be acceptable from a 
highway safety point of view.

Page 35



Flooding and Drainage

Major concerns have been raised by neighbouring properties and village residents regarding flooding 
and have provided considerable evidence that the site and neighbouring roads are subject to flooding. 
They have also expressed concerns that the solutions for the prevention of surface water run-off and 
flooding cannot be successfully mitigated and that a conditional permission would not resolve this.

The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and as such is considered to be at the lowest risk of flooding. 
The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which includes an overarching drainage 
strategy for the scheme based on sustainable drainage techniques. The Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) has raised no concerns in relation to these details and subject to a condition to secure a detailed 
drainage strategy, based on the final detailed layout to be agreed at reserved matters stage, they have 
no objection to this development. On this basis of this advice from the Council's professional advisors, 
the proposal is not considered to raise any significant flooding or drainage concerns. 

Ecology

The application site comprises agricultural fields that are bounded by hedgerows. The site is located 
within a protected species consultation zone. 

This application is supported by an Ecological Assessment. The Council's Ecologist has reviewed these 
details and concludes that the information provided makes sufficient provision for mitigation and 
compensation of the impact of the development and biodiversity enhancements, as required by the 
NPPF. 

The Council's Ecologist is aware that the application is in outline and that matters of layout and 
landscaping are to be considered later under reserved matters. On this basis, the Ecologist has 
acknowledged that the matters raised can be dealt with appropriately through the use of a condition. 
Accordingly, a condition requiring a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP), as 
recommended by the Ecologist, forms part of the officer's recommendation and for these reasons, the 
proposal is not considered to give rise to any substantive ecology concerns. 

Heritage 

The South West Heritage Trust were consulted as to the impacts of the development on any archaeology 
in the area. An archaeological survey was requested and carried out. On the basis of the survey, no 
objections were raised to the proposal, subject to a condition to secure a programme of archaeological 
investigations prior to the commencement of the development. 

There are neighbouring listed buildings near the site however it is considered their setting will not be 
affected by the proposed development. 

Planning Obligations

This scheme generates the following planning obligations in order to make to mitigate its impacts / meet 
the requirements generated by this additional housing. The applicant has agreed to all of these 
obligations and which need to be secured through an appropriate Section 106 Agreement. 

Education 

County Education has commented that is no requirement for a contribution because there is capacity in 
schools in this area.

SSDC Community, Health and Leisure, and County Education

Page 36



The SSDC Community, Health and Leisure department seeks contributions totalling £55,406 towards 
local facilities which equates to £1,583 per dwelling and comprises £35,541 contribution towards local 
facilities (contribution towards enhancing the existing play area at The Park, Haselbury Plucknett 
Recreation Ground and contribution towards enhancing the existing youth facilities at The Park, 
Haselbury Plucknett Recreation Ground), £19,316 in commuted sums and £549 as an administration 
fee.  

Open Space

No requirement as less than 50 dwellings

Affordable Housing

SSDC Strategic Housing requirement is on the basis of adopted policy requirements for 35% affordable 
housing to be split 80:20, social rent: intermediate product. This equates to 12 of the proposed 35 
dwellings being affordable, of which 10 would be for social rent and 2 for other intermediate affordable 
housing.

It is expected that the units would also comply with the minimum space requirements specified by 
Strategic Housing. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The proposed development will also be liable for Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

Given the lack of technical objection from the consultees, the principle of development on this site is a 
finely balanced decision that requires assessing the harm to the character of the village and landscape 
setting and balancing the benefits of the proposal.

When considering the planning balance of this proposal it should be recognised that the application site 
is located on the edge of the existing built form of the village. Haselbury Plucknett does not have 
development area as identified within the Local Plan and should be considered as open countryside for 
planning purposes. This, however, does not preclude development that is justified by Policy SS2 and 
takes into account the continuing absence of a five-year housing supply and as such Local Plan policies 
that seek to constrain/control housing growth should be considered to be out of date. 

The proposal will result in additional market and affordable housing that will make a meaningful and 
positive contribution towards meeting SSDC's five-year housing requirements, a matter that must be 
given substantial weight in its favour. 

The local concerns raised regarding the existing local road network are noted. However, the Highway 
Authority has been clear in their opinion that this proposal will not result in any capacity issues on the 
local road network that warrants refusing this application. Local evidence has been provided to challenge 
the Council's Highway Authority's professional views, as such it must be concluded that the proposal 
will not lead to any new severe highway safety concerns in this regard. 

Significant local concerns have been raised regarding flooding matters however this has not convinced 
the LLFA that the issues are so severe as to warrant an objection however have requested conditions 
to mitigate against flooding and surface water drainage.

With regard to the harm that has been identified with respect to the visual character it is considered that 
the benefits of the scheme outweigh that harm. It is however a matter for the committee as decision 

Page 37



maker to attribute the appropriate weight to the factors set out here. Other matters including ecology, 
drainage, residential amenity and the historic environment have been identified as being acceptable and 
do not justify withholding outline planning permission and the agreement of the details of means of 
access. 

All outstanding matters of detail would be adequately assessed at reserved matters stage or by the 
agreement of details required by condition. The applicant has agreed to pay the appropriate 
contributions and provision of the other obligations sought through a Section 106 Agreement. 

Therefore, notwithstanding the local concerns raised, the proposed development is considered to 
represent an appropriate and sustainable form of development that accords with the aims and objectives 
of the relevant policies of the South Somerset Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Accordingly, the application is recommended for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

The application be approved subject to:-

(i) The prior completion of a Section 106 planning obligation (in a form acceptable to the Council's 
solicitor(s)) before the decision notice granting planning permission is issued, to secure the following:

(a) A contribution of £55,406 (or £1,583 per dwelling) towards recreational infrastructure, to the 
satisfaction of the Director of Strategy & Commissioning broken down as:
 

 £35,541 towards the provision of Local Facilities; 
 £19,316 towards offsite contributions;
 £549 as an administration fee.  

 (b) At least 35% of the dwellings as affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 80:20 in favour of 
rented accommodation over other intermediate types, to the satisfaction of the Strategic Housing Officer.

(c) A contribution towards the upgrading and surfacing of the Public Right of Way Y 11/40 and Y 
11/39 into the village

and

(ii) Conditions as set out below:

01. Notwithstanding the local concerns, the provision of up to 35 houses in this sustainable location 
would contribute to the council's housing supply without demonstrable harm to the local landscape, the 
character of the settlement, residential or visual amenity, ecology, archaeology, flooding and drainage 
or highway safety, and without compromising the provision of services and facilities in the settlement or 
the settlement hierarchy set out in the Local Plan. As such the scheme is considered to comply with the 
aims and objectives of policies SD1, SS1, SS4, SS5, SS6, HG3, TA1, TA4, TA5, TA6, HW1, EQ1, EQ2, 
EQ3, EQ4, EQ5 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028) and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

01. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (herein called the "reserved matters") 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before any 
development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

Page 38



Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

02. All reserved matters shall be submitted in the form of one application to show a comprehensive 
and coherent scheme with respect to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to the local 
planning authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, and before 
any development is commenced on site. The development shall begin no later than three years 
from the date of this permission or not later than two years from the approval of the reserved 
matters application. 

Reason:  As required by Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

03. The site hereby approved for development and access works shall be as shown on the drawing 
numbers 

3895/0001
3895/0002 A
3895/0003 A
SPA_01 P2 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 

04. The development hereby permitted shall comprise no more than 35 dwellings. 

Reason: To ensure that the level and density of development is appropriate to the location and 
commensurate with levels of contributions sought in accordance with policies SD1, SS6, HG3 and 
HW1 of the South Somerset Local Plan. 

05. Before any work is commenced a programme showing the phasing of the development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following such approval and 
commencement of the development hereby permitted the works comprised in the development 
shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with such approved programme or 
such other phasing programme as the Local Planning Authority may in writing subsequently 
approve.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the potential impacts on the local road network and the 
relative timescales involved, in the interests of highway safety and efficiency and in accordance 
with policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

06. No development shall commence unless a Construction Environmental Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plan. The plan shall include:

 Construction vehicle movements;
 Construction operation hours;
 Construction vehicular routes to and from site;
 Construction delivery hours;
 Expected number of construction vehicles per day;
 Car parking for contractors;
 Specific measures to be adopted to mitigate construction impacts in pursuance of the 

Environmental Code of Construction Practice;
 A scheme to encourage the use of Public Transport amongst contractors; 
 Measures to avoid traffic congestion impacting upon the Strategic Road Network; and 
 On-site vehicle wheel washing facilities.

Page 39



Reason: To ensure all works are undertaken with a little impact on the highway network as 
possible, in the interests of highway safety and efficiency and in accordance with policy TA5 of the 
South Somerset Local Plan.

07. The proposed access and highway improvements scheme shall be constructed in accordance 
with details shown on the submitted plan, drawing number 3895/0002 Rev A, and shall be 
available for use prior to occupation of the first dwelling. Once constructed the access shall be 
maintained thereafter in that condition at all times.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

08. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so as to prevent its 
discharge onto the highway, details of which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such provision shall be installed before occupation and thereafter 
maintained at all times.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

09. The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, tactile paving, cycleways, bus stops/bus lay-bys, 
verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water 
outfall, vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway 
gradients, drive gradients, car, motorcycle and cycle parking, and street furniture shall be 
constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, indicating as 
appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

10. The proposed roads, including footpaths and turning spaces where applicable, shall be 
constructed in such a manner as to ensure that each dwelling before it is occupied shall be served 
by a properly consolidated and surfaced footpath and carriageway to at least base course level 
between the dwelling and existing highway.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

11. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until suitable parking facilities for each 
dwelling in accordance with current policy standards have been provided in a position approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The said spaces and access thereto shall be properly 
consolidated and surfaced, and shall thereafter be kept clear of obstruction at all times and not 
used other than for the parking of vehicles or for the purpose of access.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

12. The new development shall not be commenced until a Travel Plan Statement has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the new development shall 
be occupied prior to implementation of those parts identified in the Approved Travel Plan as 
capable of being implemented prior to occupation. Those parts of the Approved Travel Plan that 
are identified therein as capable of implementation after occupation shall be implemented in 

Page 40



accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as 
any part of the development is occupied.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

13. There shall be no obstruction to visibility greater than 300 millimetres above adjoining road level 
in advance of lines drawn 2.4 metres back from the carriageway edge on the centre line of the 
access and extending to points on the nearside carriageway edge 43 metres to the west, and 36 
metres to the east. Such visibility shall be fully provided before the development hereby permitted 
is occupied and shall thereafter be maintained at all times.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

14. No development shall be commenced until details of the surface water drainage scheme based 
on sustainable drainage principles together with a programme of implementation and maintenance 
for the lifetime of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The drainage design shall ensure that surface water runoff post development 
is attenuated on site and discharged at a rate and volume no greater than greenfield runoff rates 
and volumes plus an allowance for climate change and urban creep. Such works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.

These details shall include: -

 Flood water exceedance routes both on and off site and measures implemented to address this 
risk, Note, no part of the site must be allowed to flood during any storm up to and including the 1 
in 30 event, flooding during storm events in excess of this including the 1 in 100yr (plus 40% 
allowance for climate change and 10% allowance for urban creep) must be controlled within the 
designed exceedance routes demonstrated to prevent flooding or damage to properties. 

 Information about the design storm period and intensity, discharge rates and volumes including 
any flows which originate offsite (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, 
means of access for maintenance (6 metres minimum), the methods employed to delay, and 
control surface water discharged from the site, and the measures taken to prevent flooding and 
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters.

 Infiltration testing, soakaway detailed design and construction in accordance with Building 
Research Digest 365. Soakaways must be located more than 5m from building and road 
foundations

 Details of construction phasing (where appropriate) and information of drainage systems to be 
used during construction of this and any other subsequent phases.

 A management and maintenance plan of the drainage system for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, management company or maintenance by a Residents' Management Company and / 
or any other arrangements to secure the operation and maintenance to an approved standard and 
working condition.

Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a satisfactory system of surface water 
drainage and that the approved system is retained, managed and maintained throughout the 

Page 41



lifetime of the development, in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) 
and the Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework.

15. Before the commencement of the development hereby permitted the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, shall have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work 
in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The WSI shall include details of the archaeological 
investigation, the analysis of evidence recovered from the site and publication of the results. The 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that adequate opportunity is afforded for investigation of archaeological or 
other items of interest to accord with Policies EH3 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028).

16. No building shall be occupied until the site archaeological investigations have been completed and 
post excavations analysis has been initiated in accordance with the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under the Programme of Works Condition and the provision made for 
analysis, dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured

Reason: To ensure that adequate opportunity is afforded for investigation of archaeological or 
other items of interest to accord with Policies EH3 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028).

17. A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and be approved in 
writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of the development. The content 
of the LEMP shall include the following:

 Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
 Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
 Aims and objectives of management.
 Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
 Prescriptions for management actions, including:
 Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward 

over a five-year period).
 Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.
 On-going monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies)/new 
residents responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring 
show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies 
and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still 
delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The 
approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development contributes to the Government's target of no net biodiversity 
loss as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework; South Somerset District Council Local 
Plan - Policy EQ4 Biodiversity; and the council's obligations for biodiversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

18. The proposed new residential development shall include 16amp electric charging points for 
electric vehicles, accessible to all residences, details of which shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any part of the development hereby 
permitted being first occupied, as required by Policy TA1 (ii) (low carbon travel) of the adopted 

Page 42



South Somerset Local Plan and paras 35, 93 and 94 of the NPPF. Once approved, such details 
shall be completed and maintained in accordance with the details and timetable agreed.

Reason: To ensure that the development is resilient and sustainable in accordance with policy 
TA1 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028) and the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Informatives:

01. Please be advised that approval of this application by South Somerset District Council will attract 
a liability payment under the Community Infrastructure Levy.  CIL is a mandatory financial charge 
on development and you will be notified of the amount of CIL being charged on this development 
in a CIL Liability Notice.

You are required to complete and return Form 1 Assumption of Liability as soon as possible and to avoid 
additional financial penalties it is important that you notify us of the date you plan to commence 
development before any work takes place.  Please complete and return Form 6 Commencement Notice.

You are advised to visit our website for further details https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/cil or email 
cil@southsomerset.gov.uk.

02. For all works which affect the highway, or which will be put forward for adoption as highway 
maintainable at public expense, full technical and construction details will be subject to a suitable 
agreement with the Highway Authority under s278 and s38 of the Highways Act 1980. 

Page 43


	Agenda
	7 Promoting Community Safety in Area West - Police Performance and Neighbourhood Policing
	8 Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (Executive Decision)
	9 Request for Area Funding to support the work of Leisure and Recreation (Executive Decision)
	10 Reports from Members on Outside Organisations
	11 Area West Committee Forward Plan
	12 Planning Appeals
	13 Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee
	14 Planning Application 19/00273/OUT ** - Bay Tree Farm, Claycastle, Haselbury Plucknett

